FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 4/16/2021 2:10 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/19/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>99679-2</u> Division III, No. 36359-7-III

> IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GORDON JAMES ENNIS,

Petitioner

PETITION FOR REVIEW FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Judge James M. Triplet The Honorable Judge Maryann C. Moreno

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark E. Vovos, #4474 MARK E. VOVOS, P.S. 1316 W. Dean Ave Spokane, WA 99201 Phone: (509) 326-5220

mvovos@mvovos.digitalspacemail8.net

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Gordon Ennis asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision that affirmed his conviction for second degree rape.

B. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

The Court of Appeals, Division III, filed on March 18, 2021. A copy of the Court's unpublished opinion is attached as Appendix A. Mr. Ennis timely seeks review of that decision.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Whether Division III's decision, affirming Mr. Ennis's conviction warrants review under RAP 13.4(b) where a non-corroboration instruction was a comment on the evidence and interfered with the constitutional right to present a defense.

Issue 2: Whether Division III's decision to affirm Mr. Ennis's conviction warrants review under RAP 13.4(b) where the State committed misconduct.

Issue 3: Whether Division III's decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b), where Mr. Ennis was denied his Sixth Amendment right to conflict free representation.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gordon Ennis, a veteran Spokane Police Sergeant, was invited by Doug and Heather Strosahl to a fall harvest party in their home in Colbert on October 24, 2015. (1RP 569, 1316-1317, 1369)¹. Mr. Strosahl, also a

 $^{^1}$ The volumes of transcripts are referred to in this opening brief as follows: "1RP" was transcribed by Terri Cochran, containing the trial and other motions on these dates: 2/7/18, 2/20/18, 2/22/18, 2/26/18, 2/27/18, 3/1/18, 3/5/18, 3/6/18, 3/7/18, 5/11/18, 6/4/18, 6/27/18, 7/13/18, 8/10/18/ 8/16/18, and 8/24/18. "2RP" was transcribed by Tammey McMaster, containing the hearing from 5/19/17. "4RP" was transcribed by Allison Stovall, containing the hearing from 6/7/17.

Spokane Police officer, invited several other friends and family. (1RP 568-569). K.S.², a probationary Spokane Police officer working in the sexual assault unit, was included. (1RP 569, 818-819, 872, 919).

Guests arrived sometime after 7:00 pm and socialized. (1RP 572-573). When Mr. Ennis arrived later, around 9 pm, K.S. greeted him "very warmly" by giving him a hug. (1RP 573, 750, 782, 834, 1387). The group moved into the living room, where Mr. Strosahl captured video of K.S. dancing in front of a seated Mr. Ennis; she bent down to hug him afterwards. (1RP 679-680, 726; State's Exhibit P-33). Eventually K.S. sat in front of Mr. Ennis with her arm wrapped around his legs and head against his legs. (1RP 1356-57, 1394-1395; State's Exibit P-33). Some guests thought K.S. was acting flirtatiously towards Mr. Ennis. (1RP 649-650, 679-680, 725-726, 733-734). Later, K.S. testified she did not recall the incident, although she appeared lucid in the video. (1RP 844).

Around 11 p.m. all of the guests entered the hot tub and continued to drink. (1RP 575-584, 619, 760-762). After exiting the hot tub a few went to bed. (1RP 576-584, 619, 762). Later, there were varying opinions as to K.S.'s intoxication level, with four guests opining K.S. was not so intoxicated as to be unaware of her surroundings. (1RP 596, 730-731,

² Initials are used throughout the Appellant's opening brief to respect this individual's identity. *See State v. Emery*, 161 Wn. App. 172, 180 fn. 2, 253 P.3d 413 (2011).

733, 787-788, 792). Only one guest—K.S.'s roommate—thought she was nearly incoherent after the hot tub. (1RP 1057, 1061-1074).

By around 2 a.m., all the guests were either staying in guestrooms or had left, except Mr. Ennis, who stayed and conversed with Mrs.

Strosahl. (1RP 597, 772). Having gone to bed earlier, Mr. Strosahl woke and joined Mr. Ennis and Mrs. Strosahl in the kitchen. (1RP 597-598).

Soon after, the three of them went to see K.S. in the guestroom. (1RP 600, 658, 673-674). They turned on the light and teased K.S. about not being able to hold her liquor. (1RP 600, 658, 1420). K.S. sat up, smiled, and giggled in response to the group; she did not have a "glassy" look of intoxication and laughed in response to Mr. Strosahl's joke. (1RP 600-601, 661, 1422). The trio returned to the kitchen. (1RP 600-601, 661-665).

Not long after, K.S. came to the kitchen, walked up to Mr. Ennis, wrapped her arms around his neck, and laid her head on his chest—actions that Mrs. Strosahl later revealed she thought were inappropriate as the embrace lasted a few minutes and Mr. Ennis was married. (1RP 601-602, 664-665, 1424-1426). The small group continued to talk, and K.S. responded to a smart comment from Mr. Strosahl. (1RP 602). K.S. was not stumbling nor did she appear to be unaware of her surroundings, did not appear to be uncoordinated, made eye contact with the Strosahl's, and had walked down the hallway on her own. (1RP 586-587, 591, 652-653,

664-668, 690, 1426). Finally, around 2:30 a.m., the Strosahl's went to bed and Mr. Ennis and K.S. headed towards the guest room in what Mrs. Strosahl though was a flirtatious manner. (1RP 602, 607-608, 668).

K.S. later indicated she did not recall being in the kitchen with Mr. Ennis and the Strosahl's. (1RP 923). Her memory of the party was mixed. (1RP 842). But she recalls waking up in a bed with Mr. Ennis next to her, feeling a thrusting in her pants and finding Mr. Ennis's fingers in her vagina. (1RP 848). She said she was not conscious or awake when Mr. Ennis touched her, and when she became aware of her surroundings, she moved away from him. (1RP 850, 927). According to K.S., Mr. Ennis got up, said he had to leave and left. (1RP 853).

Mr. Ennis's memory was different: K.S. pulled his hips towards her in the hallway and nuzzled into him, and he embraced her in return. (1RP 1426-1429, 1457, 1459). They moved to the bedroom where they became more intimate, with K.S. pulling Mr. Ennis's hands towards her vagina, which he then rubbed and inserted a finger into. (1RP 1429, 1447). But then Mr. Ennis stopped the encounter, realizing the personal and professional implications of their intimate actions, and told K.S. he needed to go home. (1RP 1430). Mr. Ennis said they were both under the influence of alcohol but K.S. never was incoherent. (1RP 1434, 1439).

K.S. later accused Mr. Ennis of nonconsensual sex. (1RP 849-851, 853-854, 862, 891-894). The State charged Mr. Ennis with a single count

of second degree rape, alleging K.S. had been "incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated." (CP 1). Witnesses at trial testified consistent with the facts above. (1RP 564-1476). The jury found Mr. Ennis guilty. (CP 328; 1RP 1546-1548).

Mr. Ennis appealed, arguing his conviction should be reversed because: the noncorroboration instruction interfered with his right to present a defense and was an improper judicial comment on the evidence, the State committed prejudicial misconduct, and ineffective assistance of counsel.³ (CP 1268-1269); Appendix A. The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments and affirmed Mr Ennis's conviction. *See* Appendix A. Mr. Ennis now seeks review by this Court.

E. ARGUMENT

Issue 1: Whether Division III's decision, affirming Mr. Ennis's conviction warrants review under RAP 13.4(b) where a non-corroboration instruction was a comment on the evidence and interfered with the constitutional right to present a defense.

It is important to note this Court recently granted review on the propriety of the noncorroboration jury instruction. *State v. Svaleson*, 195 Wn.2d 1008, 458 P.3d 790 (2020). Review of the issue was terminated upon the untimely death of the petitioner. *State v. Garza*, 2021 WL 351991, at *7 (Wn. Ct. App. Feb. 2, 2021); *see also* GR 14.1(a)

³ Mr. Ennis also challenged several other issues, which are not raised here.

(authorizing citation to unpublished opinions as nonbinding authority).

Yet the need to revisit this issue has not abated.

The noncorroboration instruction given to the jury in this case constituted an improper comment on the evidence under article IV, sec. 16, of the Washington State Constitution. Const. art. IV, sec. 16; (CP 324, Instruction No. 10; 1RP 1487). The noncorroboration instruction stated that "[i]n order to convict a person of second degree rape, it shall not be necessary that the testimony of the alleged victim be corroborated." (CP 324, Instruction No. 10; 1RP 1487); see RCW 9.44.020(1). Because the noncorroboration instruction is an impermissible judicial comment on the evidence in violation of Article IV, sec. 16, of the State Constitution, Mr. Ennis respectfully requests this Court overrule State v. Clayton, 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949) because the precedent is incorrect and harmful. The instruction interfered with Mr. Ennis's constitutional right to present a defense because the noncorroboration instruction, when combined with the affirmative defense to second degree rape, diminished the defense instruction. (CP 324-325, Instruction Nos. 10 & 11; 1RP 1487-1488).

Mr. Ennis's trial defense counsel did not take exception to the noncorroboration instruction. (1RP 1478-1479). But a comment on the evidence is of such constitutional magnitude it may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Lamphsire*, 74 Wn.2d 888, 893, 447 P.2d 727 (1968); *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719-720, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006).

a. The propriety of the noncorroboration instruction is outdated and this Court's precedence from *Clayton* needs to be revisited because it is incorrect and harmful.

As a threshold matter, Division III pointed out that a non-corroboration instruction "is at best anachronistic." Appendix A, pg. 17. Division III acknowledged the noncorroboration instruction is based upon law from over one hundred years ago, a time when "corroboration of the complaining witness in a rape case was required by statute." Appendix A, pg. 17 (citing *State v. Morden*, 87 Wash. 465, 467, 151 P. 832 (1915)). That statute was repealed in 1913 and the petitioner agrees that, for awhile, "it might have been important to communicate to a jury that there was no longer a requirement for corroboration." Appendix A, pg. 17.

But today, all three appellate divisions have recognized misgivings about employing a noncorroboration instruction. *State v. Chenoweth*, 188 Wn. App. 521, 535-538, 354 P.3d 13 (Div. I, 2015); *State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wn. App. 170, 180-183, 121 P.3d 1216 (Div. II, 2005); *State v. Steenhard*, 2019 WL 3302416, at *8-9 (Wn. Ct. App., Div. III, Jul. 23, 2019) (unpublished); *see also* GR 14.1(a) (authorizing citation to unpublished opinions as nonbinding authority). And the Washington State Supreme Court Committee specifically discourages the use of the noncorroboration instruction. 11 Wash. Prac. Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 45.02 (4th Ed. 2016) (Comment). This is because the trial court's highlighting or emphasizing of one party's theory of the case over another

is an improper comment on the evidence. *See State v. Carpenter*, 78 Wn.2d 92, 101, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969). Judge Becker remarked in *Chenoweth*:

If the use of the noncorroboration instruction were a matter of first impression, I would hold it is a comment on the evidence and reverse the conviction. I agree with the committee on pattern jury instructions that the matter of corroboration is really a matter of sufficiency of the evidence. Many correct statements of the law are not appropriate to give as instructions. But we are bound by *State v. Clayton*, 32 Wash.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949), to hold that the giving of such an instruction is not reversible error. *State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wash.App. 170, 182–83, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005). Accordingly, I must concur.

Chenoweth, 188 Wn. App. at 538 (concurring, J. Becker).

In this case Division III agreed there "is no need for a corroboration instruction, and it would be better not to give one." Appendix A, pg. 20; (citing 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 45.02 (4th ed. 2016) (Comment)). However, Division III noted it was bound by the 1949 *Clayton* decision. Appendix A, pgs. 17-19; 32 Wn.2d at 573-74.

Several other states have also acknowledged a noncorroboration instruction's shortcomings and problematic implementation. In 2003, the Indiana Supreme Court overruled its "substantial history of appellate approval" and found the giving of a noncorroboration instruction was error. *Ludy v. State*, 784 N.E.2d 459, 462 (Ind., 2003). In 2015 the Florida Supreme Court found the noncorroboration instruction to be an improper comment on the evidence. *Gutierrez v. State*, 177 So.3d 226, 231-232 (Fla. 2015). Texas also

found error when a noncorroboration instruction was given to the jury. *Veteto* v. *State*, 8 S.W.3d 805, 816-17 (Tex. App. 2008), *abrogated on other grounds* by *State* v. *Crook*, 248 S.W.3d 172 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008).

Recently, Division III reversed and remanded a child molestation case, stating while the noncorroboration instruction was a correct statement of the law, the instruction's use contributed to prejudice suffered by the defendant when improper vouching occurred. Steenhard, 2019 WL 3302416 at *11-12; see also GR 14.1(a) (authorizing citation to unpublished opinions as nonbinding authority). The lower court noted in most sex cases, "the respective credibility of the victim and the defendant becomes crucial because the testimony of each directly conflicts and the two are the only percipient witnesses." Id. at *9. And Division III recognized the instruction "suggested to the jury" that the alleged victims' testimony, and not the defendant's testimony, "could prevail without verification from another witness." Id. at *11. While in Mr. Ennis's case Division III downplays the *Steenhard* opinion, it still recognized the derogation of fair trial rights due to the use of the noncorroboration instruction. *Id.* at *11; Appendix A, pg. 17 fn. 5. Mr. Ennis's case is not all that different from Mr. Steenhard's, as no one besides K.S. and Mr. Ennis were present during the incident.

Division III also stated the juror's role in assessing credibility and weight are frequently emphasized during closing argument, and thus there was no need for a noncorroboration instruction to include additional,

cautionary language, as suggested by *State v. Johnson*. 152 Wn. App. 924, 936, 219 P.3d 958 (2009); Appendix A, pgs. 19-20. The lower court stated credibility and weight were emphasized during closing arguments in Mr. Ennis's trial, and the noncorroboration instruction was never mentioned. Appendix A, pg. 20. But that is not so. During both voir dire and rebuttal closing argument, the State pointed out to the jury the law does not require the victim's statement be corroborated. (1RP 466, 1542). And at the apex of its opening statement, the State alluded to the same principle, stating "if you find [K.S.] credible, that will be enough to find guilty in this case." (1RP 563). The State did indeed emphasize the noncorroboration instruction and this affected the fairness of the trial.

The doctrine of stare decisis provides stability and clarity in the law and gives parties a clear standard with which to determine rights.

State v. Stalker, 152 Wn. App. 805, 810-811, 219 P.3d 722 (2009). But the doctrine is "not an absolute impediment to change." State v. Otton, 185 Wn.2d 673, 678, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016). The courts can and will reject prior holdings "upon a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful." Id.; Stalker 152 Wn. App. at 810-812. There are occasions "when a court should eschew prior precedent in deference to intervening authority where the legal underpinnings of our precedent have changed or disappeared altogether." Id. at 678 (internal quotations & citations omitted). Clayton should be readdressed.

Review by this Court is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other decisions by the Court of Appeals and precedence of this Court that the judiciary shall not comment on the evidence. State v. Allen, 161 Wn. App. 727, 742, 255 P.3d 784 (2011) (instructions which could lead the jury to infer the trial court had opinions as to one witness's testimony over another are judicial comments on the evidence); see State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743-744, 32 P.3d 136 (2006) (a judge is prohibited from "conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case" or "instructing a jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law"); State v. Lewis, 6 Wn. App. 38, 41-42, 491 P.2d 1062 (1972) (a judge may not instruct the jury so as to single out specific evidence or emphasize particular facts of the case). Review is also merited under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the propriety of the noncorroboration instruction is a significant question of law under Article 4, section 16 of the Washington Constitution and involves an issue of substantial public interest due to the misgivings expressed by all three divisions of the Court of Appeals. Chenoweth, Zimmerman, Steenhard, supra. Const. art. IV, sec. 16.

b. The noncorroboration instruction interferes with the right to present a defense.

Division III disagreed Mr. Ennis's right to present a defense was violated, stating he identified no evidence he was prevented from presenting. Appendix A, pgs. 21-22; (CP 325, Instruction No. 11; 1RP 1487-1488).

It is a defense to second degree rape if the defendant proves by a preponderance of the evidence he or she "reasonably believed that the victim was not mentally incapacitated and/or physically helpless." RCW 9A.44.030(1) (reasonable belief defense); 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 19.03 (4th Ed. 2016). Here, the trial court instructed the jury that it was a defense to this charge if Mr. Ennis reasonably believed K.S. was not incapacitated at the time of the act, but it also instructed the jury that K.S.'s testimony need not be corroborated to find the defendant guilty of second degree rape. (CP 324-325, Instruction Nos. 10 & 11; 1RP 1487-1488). Yet the trial court's noncorroboration instruction was misleading, interfered and muddied the reasonable belief defense instruction defense because it placed special emphasis on K.S.'s testimony but detracted from Mr. Ennis' testimony in defense. (CP 324, Instruction No. 10; 1RP 1487); Clayton, supra.

Both the United States and Washington Constitutions guarantee the right to present a defense. U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, sec. 22. In general, objections to jury instructions may not be raised for the first time

on appeal unless it relates to a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *Id.* (citing RAP 2.5(a)(3) (other citation omitted). "Jury instructions are sufficient if they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied." *State v. O'Donnell*, 142 Wn. App. 314, 321, 174 P.3d 1205 (2007). To comply with due process, jury instructions must also "fully instruct the jury on the defense theory" and "give the jury discretion to decide questions of fact." *State v. Koch*, 157 Wn. App. 20, 33, 237 P.3d 287 (2010). A case must be reversed where a misleading jury instruction deprives a defendant of his ability to argue his theory of the case. *State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d 896, 903, 913 P.2d 369 (1996). A defendant is not required to argue a theory to correct an erroneous statement of the law in jury instructions. *Id.* at 903.

Mr. Ennis's defense rested on consent, and whether he reasonably believed K.S. was not mentally or physically incapacitated. (CP 325, Instruction No. 11; 1RP 1426-1429). He did not have to prove her capacity or incapacity—just whether he reasonably believed she was incapacitated—and that is a question about credibility and corroboration. But because the court instructed the jury that K.S.'s testimony need not be corroborated in order to convict Mr. Ennis of second degree rape, the court's silence as to Mr. Ennis's opposing testimony and emphasis on K.S.'s interfered with his constitutional right to a "fair opportunity to

defend against the State's accusations." *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 294; U.S. Const. amends. VI; XIV; Const. art. I, sec. 22. The court's instruction misled the jury because it eroded its authority to decide questions of fact, depriving Mr. Ennis of his ability to argue his theory of the case (consent and the reasonable belief defense) without the weight of an improper judicial comment on the evidence. *LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d at 903. If the judge had not improperly commented on the testimony, Mr. Ennis's presentation of his defense would have been even-handed. But that did not happen. Mr. Ennis did not have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt K.S. was incapacitated—he only needed to prove he believed she was by a preponderance of the evidence. These competing burdens of proof muddy the meaning of the jury instructions and which standard the jury was to apply.

Review is merited: Division III's decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals; a significant question of law exists under the State and federal constitutions because it involves the right to present a defense; and the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest—allowing defendants to fairly and fully argue their theories of defense. *Koch*, 157 Wn. App. at 33; *LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d at 903; U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, sec. 22; RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

The combination of the noncorroboration instruction and capacity defense instruction diluted the defense theory. Review is necessary.

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