FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/27/2021 10:45 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99679-2 COA No. 36359-7-III

### IN THE SUPREME COURT

### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

## GORDON ENNIS, Defendant/Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Gretchen E. Verhoef Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

### **

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

### V. ARGUMENT

A. REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE DEFENDANT'S COMPLAINTS REGARDING THE NON-CORROBORATION INSTRUCTION WERE NOT PRESERVED; THE PETITION DOES NOT SATISFY RAP 13.4.

Ennis alleges that the use of the non-corroboration instruction was (1) a judicial comment on the evidence in violation of our State Constitution and (2) deprived him of his constitutional right to present a defense. The Court of Appeals analyzed the merits of the first allegation, ostensibly finding that issue to be of constitutional magnitude despite the lack of

objection below. Slip Op. at 18. Regarding the second allegation, the Court of Appeals found no violation of the defendant's right to present a defense because the defendant failed to demonstrate the non-corroboration instruction prevented him from eliciting particular evidence. Slip Op. at 22. Indeed, the non-corroboration instruction was not read or offered to the jury until after all of the evidence from the State and defense had been presented.

At no time prior to the defendant's motion for a new trial did Ennis object to the trial court's use of the non-corroboration instruction. RP 1473. Generally, the failure to timely and properly object to a jury instruction waives the claimed error. *State v. Schaler*, 169 Wn.2d 274, 282, 236 P.3d 858 (2010); *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685–86, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); CrR 6.15. Under RAP 2.5(a), a party may not raise an error on appeal that was not first raised at trial unless the claim involves a manifest constitutional error. This "exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below." *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 687. To meet RAP 2.5(a), an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

In order to ensure the actual prejudice and harmless error analyses are separate, the focus of the actual prejudice must be on whether the error is *so obvious on the record* that the error warrants appellate review... It is not the role of an appellate court on direct appeal to address claims where the trial court could not have foreseen the potential error or where... trial counsel could have been justified in their actions or failure to object. Thus, to determine whether an error is practical and identifiable, the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error.

State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (footnote and internal citation omitted) (emphasis added). A defendant's motion for a new trial does not remedy the failure to object at trial. State v. Jones, 185 Wn.2d 412, 426-27, 372 P.3d 755 (2016) ("A motion for a new trial is not a substitute for raising a timely objection that could have completely cured the error...[T]he failure to raise a timely objection strongly indicates that the party did not perceive any prejudicial error until after receiving an unfavorable verdict").

#### 1. Comment on the evidence.

Ennis' first allegation – that the non-corroboration instruction is a judicial comment on the evidence – is not "manifest" within the meaning of the rule such that, without a defense objection, the trial court should have sua sponte denied the State's request for the instruction. This Court, and other Washington courts have repeatedly held that the non-corroboration

instruction is not a judicial comment on the evidence. *See State v. Clayton*, 32 Wn.2d 571, 573-74, 202 P.2d 922 (1949); *State v. Galbreath*, 69 Wn.2d 664, 419 P.2d 800 (1966); *State v. Chenoweth*, 188 Wn. App. 521, 537, 354 P.3d 13 (2015); *State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wn. App. 170, 182, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005); *State v. Malone*, 20 Wn. App. 712, 714-15, 582 P.2d 883 (1978). This Court's Committee on Jury Instructions may have "misgivings" about instruction, but those misgivings do not overrule established precedent.

The defendant reminds this Court that it recently granted review of the propriety of a non-corroboration instruction in *State v. Svaleson*, 195 Wn.2d 1008, 458 P.3d 790 (2020), but review was terminated when the defendant died. Pet. for Rev. at 5. Defendant fails to alert this Court that the critical distinguishing feature between *Svaleson* and *Ennis* is that Svaleson lodged a timely objection to the instruction. *State v. Svaleson*, 2018 WL 2437289 at \*3, 3 Wn. App. 1065 (2018). Here, the trial court was presented with no opportunity to entertain Ennis' arguments why the instruction was inappropriate in *his* case, especially in light of significant precedent which permits the instruction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Pursuant to GR 14.1, this opinion has no precedential value and is cited for its procedural history only.

Similarly, in the unpublished decision in *State v. Steenhard*, 2019 WL 3302416 at \*5, 9 Wn. App. 1072 (2019), Division Three reviewed the propriety of an *objected-to* non-corroboration instruction, *also finding no error* in the use of the instruction alone. *Id.* at \*7. Division Three reversed the convictions not because of instructional error, but because the improper vouching from two separate witnesses combined with the non-corroboration instruction (when the imaginative child victims' allegations occurred at times when there *should have been* corroborative evidence), causing a risk of prejudice to the defendant. *Id.* at 11. Such is not the case here. Even Ennis corroborated that the sexual act with K.S. occurred. Because both sides agreed that the sexual act occurred, the giving of non-corroboration instruction was harmless in any event. Further, some witnesses corroborated that K.S. was highly intoxicated and some corroborated Ennis' perception of her lessened intoxication level. As noted by Judge Siddoway:

Ennis argues that he should have been as free as K.S. to argue that his testimony did not need to be corroborated. We agree. It might have been a strange argument to make...because as the trial court pointed out in denying his new trial motion, this was a case in which both sides presented quite a bit of corroborative-type evidence on ...K.S.'s capacity...It is unimaginable, if defense counsel had argued that Ennis's testimony did not have to be corroborated, that the State would have objected....it is inconceivable [if the State objected] that the trial court would not have overruled the State's objection...[I]f both the unimaginable and inconceivable happened,

which led the jury to believe that the defense, but not the State, must present corroborating evidence, we would reverse...and order a new trial.

Slip Op. at 20.

Ennis' case is readily distinguishable from the cases he cites in support of review and does not conflict with this Court's established precedent, militating against review under RAP 13.4. Further, the lack of objection should preclude review as well.

### 2. Right to present a defense.

Not only did the defendant fail to specifically object to the non-corroboration instruction during trial, he also failed to object to the combined use of the non-corroboration instruction and the reasonable belief instruction. As with the claimed error above, the defendant deprived the trial court of the opportunity to consider the effect the non-corroboration instruction might have on the jury's understanding of the reasonable belief instruction, and did not claim error until after he had been convicted. Further, defendant has cited no authority that should have alerted the trial court that the combined use of these instructions could deprive him of his right to present a defense. Even assuming this error implicates a constitutional right, it is not manifest or obvious as required for review.

The defendant has consistently failed to explain what evidence the non-corroboration instruction precluded at trial. Slip Op. at 22. No witnesses were excluded nor was his cross-examination limited by the use of the instruction. This Court should decline review of this issue.

### B. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE REVIEW OF THE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CLAIMS.

1. Several of defendant's claims of prosecutorial misconduct were not preserved.

As with the alleged errors above, the defendant failed to object during trial to most of the claimed prosecutorial misconduct until after the jury found him guilty. In *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, this Court set forth specific guidance for the review of prosecutorial misconduct claims where no objection was made below. A defendant must first show that the prosecutor's statement was improper. *Id.* at 759. When no objection is raised at trial, the misconduct must be "so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *Id.* at 760-61. Objections during trial are critical to the inquiry. *Id.* at 762 ("Objections are required not only to prevent counsel from making additional improper remarks, but also to prevent potential abuse of the appellate process"). "Reviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's

misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured." *Id*.

In *Matter of Phelps*, 190 Wn.2d 155, 165, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018), this Court observed it has found prosecutorial misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned only "in a narrow set of cases where [it was] concerned about the jury drawing improper inferences from the evidence, such as those comments alluding to race or a defendant's membership in a particular group, or where the prosecutor otherwise comments on the evidence in an inflammatory manner." *Id.* at 170. The instances of alleged, yet unobjected-to misconduct occurring during Ennis' trial fail to meet the *Emery* or *Phelps* criteria. As with the alleged instructional error above, the defendant apparently perceived no prejudice from the prosecutors' conduct at trial, gambled on the verdict without presenting the court or the prosecutor an opportunity to cure any potential error, and only belatedly asserted misconduct after having been convicted. The defendant's failure to object precludes review.

### a. Alleged comment on right to silence

The defendant did not raise the general allegation that the State improperly commented on his right to silence until he filed his motion for a

new trial. On direct appeal, the defendant claimed as improper: (1) the State's question to Detective Armstrong whether the defendant remained silent during the DNA collection, RP 1472; (2) and, during closing argument, five references to the credibility of Ennis' testimony, listed separately below. While the instances of alleged misconduct during closing argument were raised in the motion for new trial, the alleged impropriety of Detective Armstrong's questioning was not. CP 412-13.

Under both the state and federal constitutions, the State may not comment on a defendant's exercise of the Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, including prearrest silence. *See State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 235, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); *State v. Lewis*, 130 Wn.2d 700, 705, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). "[W]hen the defendant's silence is raised, [an appellate court] must consider whether the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on that right." *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 216, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). A comment on an accused's silence occurs when the State uses the evidence to suggest the defendant is guilty. *State v. Keene*, 86 Wn. App. 589, 594, 938 P.2d 839 (1997). A prosecutor's statements will not be considered a comment on the right to silence if, "standing alone, [it] was so subtle and so brief that [it] did not naturally and necessarily emphasize

defendant's testimonial silence." *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d at 216 (internal quotations and citations omitted). A remark that does not amount to a comment is considered "a mere reference" to silence, and is not reversible error absent a showing of prejudice. *Id.* And in *Burke*, Justice Madsen would not have reviewed a "mere reference" to silence, absent a proper objection, even when raised in a motion for a new trial. *Id.* at 210, 223 (Madsen J., dissenting).

### i. Detective Armstrong's testimony

During his *redirect examination*, Ennis testified that he offered to clip his nails for investigators, but the offer was rejected. RP 1467. In response to Ennis's testimony, Detective Armstrong stated he did not remember Ennis offering to cut his own nails for investigators. RP 1472. The State then asked, without objection, "*Did you indicate in your report* that he *remained silent* during the contact and conversations?" and Armstrong replied, "I indeed did." RP 1472 (emphasis added).

Any impropriety in the question to Armstrong was not preserved. Further, as the Court of Appeals properly found, the question was directed at whether, in addition to the Detective's own independent recollection, he made a report indicating Ennis was silent during the interview. Ennis and

his investigator, RP 1474, claimed he verbally offered to clip his nails for investigators, and the officer's contemporaneous record of the interview was offered to rebut that assertion – an event the State's witnesses did not recall. RP 1037, 1472. The defendant opened the door to this testimony. *State v. Gefeller*, 76 Wn.2d 449, 458 P.2d 17 (1969). The State was entitled to respond, and did not use or intend to use the defendant's silence during the interview to demonstrate his guilt.

### ii. Closing argument

The defendant did not object to the State's allegedly improper closing arguments. <sup>11</sup> RP 1496-97, 1499-1500, 1510. In the motion for a new trial, the trial court was asked to analyze only three of the statements, <sup>12</sup> and found they lacked any specific comment on the defendant's silence, were ambiguous, and directly reflected the defendant's own testimony at trial. RP 1781-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See also Slip Op. at 22-25 (reproducing State's arguments verbatim and noting only one allegation was raised in the defendant's motion for a new trial).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The trial court analyzed: (1) "We heard the defendant's statement for the first time yesterday when he took the stand"; (2) "You can look at the timing and accuracy of a statement, how someone testifies and what motive or bias they may have"; and (3) "The defendant spoke to you the other day after having two years and four months to access reports and being seated in the courtroom throughout this, and he gave you a version of events you must analyze."

These statements were directed at the defendant's credibility while testifying, not at his silence to law enforcement. The first statement, "we heard the defendant's statement for the first time yesterday," implies nothing about guilt from any earlier silence. It simply indicates that the jury heard the defendant present his version of events for the first time the preceding day (the defense waived its opening statement); it merely regarded the order of evidence presented and the defendant's credibility.

The remaining comments, also related to the defendant's credibility while testifying, and did nothing more than (1) explain to the jury that the court's instructions, relating to credibility determinations, also applied to the defendant's own testimony and (2) argue how, based on the testimony, the jury should find Ennis' trial testimony not credible. *See* CP 314. The comments emphasized the defendant's actions prior to trial – i.e., clipping his fingernails and contacting witnesses in violation of a court order as evidence that he was attempting to "get rid of potential evidence," and how those actions bore on his credibility as a witness. RP 1500, 1511. Ennis testified that he had spent "two years and four months" thinking about the case and, therefore, could remember minute details, despite his level of intoxication during the party. RP 1437-38. The defendant's ability to recall

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